
 

 

AGENDA 
WARRENTON PLANNING COMMISSION 

Regular Meeting | June 13, 2024 | 6:00 p.m. 
Warrenton City Hall Commission Chambers | 225 S Main Avenue, Warrenton, OR 97146 

***The meeting will be broadcast via Zoom at the following link*** 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85142805492?pwd=bEhjejNHaFJSOHVnT0xOYktVZWx4UT09 

Meeting ID: 851 4280 5492 | Passcode: 12345 | Dial-in number: 253-215-8782 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

2. ATTENDANCE 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
A. Planning Commission Regular Minutes – 5.9.24 

 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT 

At this time, anyone wishing to address the Planning Commission concerning items of interest may do so. The 
person addressing the Planning Commission must complete a Public Comment Card and submit it to the 
Secretary prior to the meeting. All comments will be addressed to the whole Planning Commission and limited 
to 3 minutes per person. Public Comments may also be submitted by email to planning@warrentonoregon.us, 
no later than 4:00 p.m. the day of the meeting. The Planning Commission reserves the right to delay any action, 
if required, until such time as they are fully informed on a matter. 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARING  
A. Appeal AP-24-1 of Plan Modification MC-24-1 Overflow Parking Lot for 1484-1487 SE Snowberry 
B. Appeal AP-24-2 of Land Partition LP-24-1 for 577 Gray Street 
C. Conditional Use Permit CUP-24-7 for 984 Pacific Drive 

 
6. BUSINESS ITEMS 

 
7. DISCUSSION ITEMS  

A. Commercial Industrial zoning district 
 

8. GOOD OF THE ORDER 
A. Applications Approved by Staff - April 1, 2024 through May 31, 2024 

 
9. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Next Regular Meeting: July 11, 2024  

 
Warrenton City Hall is accessible to the disabled. An interpreter for the hearing impaired may be requested under the terms of ORS 192.630 by 
contacting Dawne Shaw, City Recorder, at 503-861-0823 at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting so appropriate assistance can be provided. 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85142805492?pwd=bEhjejNHaFJSOHVnT0xOYktVZWx4UT09
mailto:planning@warrentonoregon.us


 

MINUTES 
Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 5.9.24 
Page: 1 

MINUTES 
Warrenton Planning Commission 

May 9, 2024 
6:00 p.m. 

Warrenton City Hall - Commission Chambers 
225 S. Main 

Warrenton, OR 97146 
 
Chair Hayward called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and led the public in the Pledge of 
Allegiance.  
 
Commissioners Present: Kevin Swanson, Christine Bridgens, Mike Moha, Chris Hayward 
Jessica Sollaccio, Karin Hopper, and Cynthia O'Reilly  
 
Staff Present: Planning Director Matthew Ellis, Secretary Judith Stich, and Secretary Paige 
Stump 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
A. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – 4.11.24 

Commissioner Swanson asked if the correction to the meeting minutes from the March 14, 
2024, Planning Commission Meeting had been made. The secretary confirmed that the 
correction had been made. 
 
Mr. Swanson made a motion to approve the minutes as presented. Motion was seconded 
and passed unanimously. 
 
Swanson–aye; Hayward-aye; Sollaccio–aye; Hopper–aye; O’Reilly-aye 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS – None 
 
5.  PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
A. SDR-24-1 & CUP-24-1 Mini-Storage Warehouse on Tax lot 810340002301 

Chair Hayward opened the hearing for the proposed Mini-Storage Warehouse. Planning 
Director, Matthew Ellis, went over the Staff Report. It was mentioned by Mr. Ellis that the 
commission is still considering a cap on mini storage in Warrenton for the future, but that has not 
gone into effect yet and therefore should not be considered. The applicant has submitted 
sufficient materials to the Planning Department, and both the Site Design Review requirements 
and the Conditional Use Permit requirements have been met. Some conditions are being 
recommended by the Planning Department for approval. Staff feels that this this an appropriate 
use for the area, and recommends approval based on the recommended conditions. 
Mr. Swanson asked about the sewer and water to the site and why the conditional use permit was 
being used rather than a permanent use. Mr. Ellis responded to the water and sewer by saying 
that they would be placed alongside the corridor that they are planning to dedicate the road 



 

MINUTES 
Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 5.9.24 
Page: 2 

coming from Warrior Way to the City. Part of the conditions include the applicant asking 
permission from the School District to access the road in the right of way. Mr. Ellis then spoke to 
the Commercial Zoning district that the proposed site is to take place in requires a Conditional 
Use Permit for mini-storage facilities. Mr. Swanson followed up by asking if the applicant 
owned the access to be able to build the road. Mr. Ellis responded that they owned the majority 
and that only about 20 feet was not owned by the applicant.  
 
At this point in the hearing, Chair Hayward stopped the hearing to get a bearing on the format of 
the hearing. Chair Hayward mentioned that he was used to having two separate items and not 
one hearing for both. Mr. Ellis responded that we would have two separate hearings for the 
items, to which Chair Hayward responded that the basic rules were the same. Chair Hayward 
started over and asked if anyone wished to speak to fill out a testimony sign up form. He then 
asked how many people were there to speak to item 5A, to which only the applicant responded. 
Chair Hayward asked how many people were there to speak to items 5B through 5E, to which 
there were a few responses from the attendees. Chair Hayward then reopened the hearing for 
SDR-24-1 and CUP-24-1. 
 
Chair Hayward asked if there were any conflicts of interest, from the Commissioners present, 
where the Mini-Storage was concerned. Mr. Swanson answered that he had driven to the site but 
there were no conflicts of interest. Chair Hayward then brought the hearing back to the Staff 
Report. The Planning Director then opened for questions from Commissioners regarding item 
5A.  
 
Commissioner Hopper stated concern over the age of the liquification reports. Mr. Ellis 
responded that the Building Department would determine if the reports were still valid and if 
there were any unstable soils; that would have to be amended.  
 
There were no other questions, and the floor was opened for the Applicant to present his case. 
The Applicant introduced himself as John Nygaard; spoke to working with the city for a better 
part of a year for this project and that they were also working with the School District for 
completion of the road to be dedicated once completed. Buildings were designed with the school 
district and the business on the other side of the property in mind. The Mr. Nygaard proceeded to 
talk about a greenspace that would create a setback between the Storage Units and the School 
District. The sidewalk between Warrior Way and Dolphin would be completed in addition to the 
shared road. The Applicant then asked the Commission if they had any questions.  
 
Commissioner O’Reilly asked Mr. Nygaard if there were any plans for them to fix the bump in 
the road in the intersection of Warrior Way and Dolphin. Mr. Nygaard raised the questioning if 
that was something that would be his responsibility, Mr. Ellis broke in and responded that would 
be a question better directed to the Public Works department. Chair Hayward asked if there were 
any questions. Mr. Nygaard thanked the Commission for their time and ended his remarks.  
 
Chair Hayward asked if there was anyone there to speak in favor of the application, there was no 
response. Chair Hayward asked if there was anyone there to speak in opposition of the 
application, but there was no response. At that point in time, the Public Hearing was closed by 
the Chair, and discussion was opened.  



 

MINUTES 
Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 5.9.24 
Page: 3 

 
Mr. Swanson started the discussion by mentioning the amount of Mini Storage there are 
currently in the city. Chair Hayward brought up that they were there to determine whether the 
criteria were met for a Conditional Use Permit, and Mr. Swanson mentioned that he was okay 
with that but was concerned that Warrenton has too many of the Mini Storage Units statistically. 
Mr. Ellis brought up that the cap on Mini Storage would be visited in the future and that it was 
one of the things that was put on his agenda by the previous Planning Director. 
 
Ms. Hopper made a motion to approve SDR-24-1 & CUP-24-1 with conditions. Motion was 
seconded and passed unanimously.  
 
Swanson–aye; Hayward-aye; Sollaccio–aye; Hopper–aye; O’Reilly-aye 

 
B. CUP-24-3 Short-Term Rental at 976 Fourth Avenue, Hammond 

Chair Hayward asked if items B through E would be combined. Mr. Ellis replied that each 
application warranted its separate hearing. Mr. Ellis wanted to reiterate something that Chair 
Hayward had mentioned regarding comments or remarks that might be the same and carry 
throughout the other hearings and to endorse what was said so the hearings can be quickly 
proceeded. A question was asked by an attending citizen to clarify if their comments were made 
on the first hearing item, that they would be considered on the subsequent hearing items if they 
were stated as such. Mr. Ellis confirmed and added that the assumption was the four hearings 
were similar in nature. 
 
Mr. Ellis then proceeded to present the Staff Report for CUP-24-3 to establish a Short-Term 
rental at 976 Fourth Avenue, which is the middle unit in a series of three townhomes. Mr. Ellis 
mentioned that all four of the applications come out of the Jetty Townhome Development. The 
Development is three buildings of three townhomes in each building. Mr. Ellis stated that the 
other three hearing items on the agenda were all located in one of the buildings in the 
development, that Item A was standalone in their application and located in unit 5 out of the 9 
townhome units. Mr. Ellis noted that the applicant did not submit response criteria for the use or 
the Type III procedure, to which they were required to hold pre application conference, but staff 
does not feel that holding such conference would contribute to the findings in the Staff Report 
nor would it have changed their application. Mr. Ellis noted that if Items C, D, and E were 
looked at; the responses are all very similar except for the application from a different owner. 
Mr. Swanson asked if all the applications were different owners, to which Mr. Ellis replied that 
one was a separate owner than the other three, but one of the three other applications for the 
properties was being transacted upon by the applicant. Mr. Ellis spoke to the confusion and 
remarked that was a reason for taking the applications on an individual basis.  
 
Mr. Ellis continued to speak on the Staff Report, stating that the only internal comments that 
were received came from the Police Chief, which is included in Condition of Approval Three, 
they are expected to complete a short term application within the first one hundred and eighty 
days, the structure must comply with our homestay lodging standards, as well as all tenants being 
informed that the Warrenton Police Department will be strictly enforcing all code, which will 
include parking, disturbances and disorderly conduct. Mr. Ellis then concluded his findings and 
asked if there were any questions from the Commission. 



 

MINUTES 
Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 5.9.24 
Page: 4 

 
Chair Hayward asked if the applicant owned the units themselves. Mr. Ellis responded that the 
applicant for this hearing did not currently own the unit, but based off conversations with the 
applicant they could purchase it. Chair Hayward further asked if the applicant required private 
parking due to the comments made by the Police Chief regarding the 2 spaces in the garage and 
two spaces in the driveway. Mr. Ellis responded agreeingly that was a standard for the units. 
Chair Hayward then proceeded to call the Applicant to speak. 
 
The applicants approached and gave their names as John and Mary Bastin. Mr. Bastin mentioned 
that they had their final walkthrough today and were expecting to close on the property next 
week. Chair Hayward then stopped the applicant for them to repeat their name and to state their 
address for the Commission. Mr. Bastin then proceeded to state the names again and give their 
address for the record. There was some slight confusion as to what address they needed to state, 
the one on the application or the one where they received their mail. Mr. Bastin spoke to how 
they hoped to be good neighbors and that they planned to use the property periodically 
themselves. Mr. Bastin mentioned that they had been in the long-term rental business for many 
years, that they had just sold a long-term rental and that they still own a duplex that they 
maintain themselves. Mr. Bastin talked to looking for management for the property on the 
application for when they are not in the direct area. The Applicant for the other three properties 
was mentioned by Mr. Bastin as giving permission for them to submit the application before 
taking ownership of the property. Then Mr. Bastin brought up the application process and how 
helpful the department had been in answering questions, that he wanted to be here in person to 
give a face to the name, and if there were any questions that he could answer them. 
 
Chair Hayward had a question regarding the intended core clientele of the property. Mr. Bastin 
answered that they were looking to management to create a multi-phase format that would 
include different vendors like Airbnb, Booking.com and VRBO to market their property and that 
their price point would be high enough that it would attract only the best renters. Mr. Bastin 
followed up that they would not be doing single night rentals, that might attract a party crowd, 
and they were hoping for families that would contribute to the community. Mr. Swanson then 
asked what the plan would be if the property was to receive visitors of one couple per bedroom 
and what that would mean for the parking situation. Mr. Bastin responded that he did not 
anticipate that would happen but if needed, there was additional parking at the end of the street. 
Ms. Hopper then stated that they had fifteen to twenty cars on occasion at the house right next to 
hers. To which Mr. Bastin replied that there would be a limit on the number of cars allowed and 
they would be monitored. Ms. Bastin mentioned that the Hammond Marina had parking 
available for rent and that they would be speaking with them about a possible parking option.  
 
Mr. Bastin asked if there were any more questions for him, Chair Hayward asked if any of the 
Commissioners had any other questions, and Ms. Hopper spoke up regarding the parking 
situation. Ms. Hopper mentioned that during fishing season, the six rentals near her had to have 
realistic goals about driveways and bringing trailers or campers. Ms. Hopper also mentioned that 
in her one-bedroom homestay, there had to be parking spaces for two cars, but they would still 
receive requests for four cars. Mr. Bastin replied that it was written in their bylaws that they were 
not allowed to have trailers, boats or boat trailers to be parked on the property. Mr. Swanson 
asked about the front side of the unit that was on a street that had no parking. It was determined 



 

MINUTES 
Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 5.9.24 
Page: 5 

that one side of the street had parking and Mr. Bastin stated that there would still be emergency 
access available. The emergency lane was mentioned by Mr. Swanson and Mr. Bastin reiterated 
that it was only there to be used in an emergency and would remain as such. Mr. and Ms. Bastin 
then thanked the Commission and sat back down.  
 
Chair Hayward asked if there was anyone there to speak in favor of the application. There was 
no one there to speak in favor so Chair Hayward moved on to those who were in opposition. 
Sammi Beechan stood to speak in opposition. Ms. Beechan thanked the Commission for hearing 
her speak and listening to her comments regarding CUP-24-3. Ms. Beechan stated that she was a 
proud resident of Hammond, that she was on the Parks Advisory Board and that the town was a 
fantastic place to live but she would like to state her opposition due to how the property has been 
thus far. Ms. Beechan then clarified that she was there in opposition of and to speak on items B, 
C, D and E. Ms. Beechan went into detail about the problems that had arose during the 
construction of the property, siting trash, improper drainage, noise, and dirt as common 
occurrences. Ms. Beechan then mentioned the people that came to work on the property 
throughout the project were not good stewards of the property nor of the town and she further 
mentioned that was something that she would hope for people coming to our town that they are 
good stewards of the area. Ms. Beechan took a moment to recognize a couple of neighbors that 
did have short-term rentals that were being good stewards to the neighborhood and highlighted 
that both properties mentioned had management on site to mitigate any issues that might arise. 
Ms. Beechan also brought up concern for the properties as they currently remain unsold, and 
only one has a resident currently living inside. Ms. Beechan then ran out of the three minutes of 
time but was allowed to continue to speak asking if the approvals from the conditional use 
permits would transfer to new owners or how the process worked. Ms. Beechan wanted to bring 
attention to the City’s website information on short-term rentals as her last statement. 
 
Mr. Swanson then asked Ms. Beechan about the problems during construction and whether it had 
subsided since the construction. Ms. Beechan responded that minor construction was ongoing, 
and due to the shared easement with the properties in this hearing making it an issue; she is still 
picking up trash that gets blown from an open dumpster and dealing with workers that are not 
respectful of the property lines.  
 
Ms. Hopper asked about homestay lodging wording, and whether it would apply in this matter 
with the criteria that were already put forth. Chair Hayward said that that could be talked about 
later during the Discussion. Commissioner Sollaccio then asked Ms. Beechan what were the 
properties’ other characteristics that made them good stewards. Ms. Beechan mentioned a coffee 
shop that was put in by one property, stating that it brought more people together. The other 
property was brought up and mentioned as an owner-occupied duplex. Ms. Beechan confirmed 
and spoke to the duplex as being owner occupied, the reason why they feel there have been no 
issues, and that it is concerning that the townhomes would not be owner occupied. Chair 
Hayward then dismissed Ms. Beechan.  
 
Matthew Higgins spoke in opposition and clarified that he was there to speak against all four 
motions for the vacation rentals. He mentioned that he agreed with all that Ms. Beechan said and 
could confirm what she said. Mr. Higgins stated that when the properties were proposed, the 
assumption was that the properties would be owner-occupied residences. Mr. Higgins is 



 

MINUTES 
Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 5.9.24 
Page: 6 

concerned that he will not be able to develop relationships with short-term renters. Mr. Higgins 
then turned the microphone back over and Chair Hayward called the next person.  
 
John Carriere approached and spoke in opposition to the proposed vacation rental. Mr. Carriere 
mentioned that it was not supposed to be a motel. He also spoke to the street and noted that boats 
would be encumbering. Mr. Carriere worries that people coming into town that do not have a 
vested interest in the property would not follow the rules. Mr. Carriere mentioned that they felt 
mislead and that they thought they were getting neighbors and not short-term renters. Mr. 
Carriere was finished, and Chair Hayward called Julie Carriere to speak. She did not approach 
but stated that she was Mr. Carriere’s wife and shared his sentiments.  
 
Chair Hayward asked if the Applicant would like to rebut at this time, to which Mr. Bastin 
replied that the questions had been answered. Mr. Bastin had been looking for awhile to find a 
suitable residence that could be used as a short-term rental. He spoke to the concerns of those in 
opposition, stating that they took no part in the construction and that they planned to hire 
management that was local; able to respond immediately. Mr. Bastin also mentioned the 
potential for them to lose their view in the future if anything was ever developed on the property 
in front of them. Mr. Bastin further mentioned that would be at the property often enough to get 
to know his neighbors. 
 
Chair Hayward then closed the public hearing portion of Item B and opened it up for discussion 
among the Commission. Chair Hayward asked to start the discussion with clarification of on-site. 
Mr. Ellis agreed that there were two different definitions and mentioned that Ms. Hopper was 
correct regarding homestay lodging. Homestay lodging is where someone is living onsite, and 
that property is their primary residence. Mr. Ellis clarified that homestay lodging was an outright 
permitted use in some residential and commercial mixed-use zones. Vacation rentals are defined 
as not owner occupied and not rented for more than 30 days. Those are typically prohibited in 
residential zones and do require conditional use permits. Ms. O’Reilly asked if the applicant was 
to sell the property in the future, if the permit would stay with the property or would another 
application be needed. Mr. Ellis responded that no, that there would be one more step. Each 
owner would need permission. Ms. O’Reilly then asked for further clarification regarding the 
zoning and how many vacation rentals could be allowed within the zone. Mr. Ellis then 
responded that there was no minimum or maximum density for the use. Ms. O’Reilly mentioned 
that the Commission would be setting an example for future vacation rentals that would want to 
come in to Commercial Mixed Use zones. Mr. Ellis responded that all vacation rentals would 
come to the commission as a conditional use permit and that they would have then have the 
chance to review them individually and decide on each application. It was then asked if the 
approval was tied to the applicant or the property to which Mr. Ellis replied that it was tied to the 
property. Some more discussion ensued regarding the approval and if it was tied to the applicant 
or the property. An example was used but Mr. Ellis reiterated that the approval remains with the 
property. Ms. Beechan tried to comment but was told that the Public Hearing had closed. Chair 
Hayward asked Ms. Beechan if she would the Public Hearing to be reopened to ask a question, 
and a no response was received. Ms. Sollaccio asked if there was a complaint mechanism for 
vacation rentals if the neighbors had to complain. Mr. Ellis responded that the process would be 
the same as any residence in the city, through code violations and police emergency and non-
emergency response. More discussion ensued regarding what could be done about violations 



 

MINUTES 
Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 5.9.24 
Page: 7 

from the vacation rentals, if a representative could be owner-appointed to field complaints, and 
what could be done by the Commission. A clarifying question was asked about items C, D and E.  
 
Commissioner O’ Reilly made a motion to approve CUP-24-3 with conditions. Motion was 
seconded and passed unanimously.  
 
Swanson–aye; Hayward-aye; Sollaccio–aye; Hopper–aye; O’Reilly-aye 
 
Chair Hayward then made a motion to approve conditions that a responsible party could 
be reached within 12 hours to address any concerns at the property. Motion was seconded 
and passed unanimously.  
 
Swanson–aye; Hayward-aye; Sollaccio–aye; Hopper–aye; O’Reilly-aye 

 
C. CUP-24-4 Short-Term Rental at 960 Fourth Avenue, Hammond 

Chair Hayward opened the Public Hearing for Item C. Mr. Ellis stated that the conditional use 
permit was not much different than Items B, D, and E. Mr. Ellis stressed that the applicants’ 
answers were different, but the outcome was not different, and therefor staff was recommending 
approval based on the same factors as Item B. 
 
Chair Hayward then recognized the applicant, who was joining via zoom, to speak. The applicant 
identified himself as Mark Hansen, owner of the units with his father and a friend. Mr. Hansen 
mentioned that his intent was to secure these properties as vacation rentals for future owners. Mr. 
Hansen spoke on the units being a part of an HOA and following those rules along with abiding 
by the City as well. Mr. Hansen then went in to easing the concerns of those that had commented 
in opposition to Item B by stating how he would amend those concerns. He detailed the HOA 
and stated that vacation rental allowances could be revoked for violations of the agreement. He 
spoke in length about the rules of the HOA bylaws and how they coincide with what the 
opposition to Item B would like to see. Mr. Hansen then thanked the Commission for allowing 
him to speak.  
 
Chair Hayward then asked if there were any questions for the Applicant. Mr. Carriere stated that 
he had a question and Chair Hayward asked him to approach and speak. Mr. Carriere stated his 
name for the record and asked Mr. Hansen if there was a minimum number of days’ stay 
required for the rentals. Mr. Ellis broke in to say that Mr. Hansen would listen to all the 
opposition first and then would have the chance to rebut. That was Mr. Hansen’s only comment, 
and he stepped down.  
 
Chair Hayward asked if there were any other questions, and there was a response from the room. 
Julie Carriere approached and stated her name for the record. Ms. Carriere asked about overflow 
parking for the units and if it was supposed to go in front of houses. Ms. Carriere then stepped 
down and Chair Hayward thanked her for her comment. There were no other comments or 
questions from the public at that time. Chair Hayward gave Mr. Hansen his chance to rebut and 
answer the questions. Mr. Hansen stated that the minimum stay was governed by the conditional 
use permit, and he didn’t believe it to be a land use issue. Mr. Hansen addressed the parking by 
stating that there was no parking allowed on the easement and that there were other parking 



 

MINUTES 
Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 5.9.24 
Page: 8 

opportunities in the area. Mr. Ellis spoke up regarding the minimum stay and whether there were 
requirements. He stated that there was a maximum allowance, which was 30 days, but there was 
no minimum allowance. Chair Hayward then closed the public hearing on Item C and opened the 
discussion among the commission. There were no discussion items and Chair Hayward asked if 
there was a motion.  
 
Commissioner O’ Reilly made a motion to approve CUP-24-4 with conditions. Motion was 
seconded and passed unanimously.  
 
Swanson–aye; Hayward-aye; Sollaccio–aye; Hopper–aye; O’Reilly-aye 

 
D. CUP-24-5 Short-Term Rental at 964 Fourth Avenue, Hammond 

Chair Hayward opened the Public Hearing for Item D. Mr. Ellis stated that the conditional use 
permit was the same as before. Mr. Ellis stated that the applicant did not go through the pre-
application process but that did not hinder the findings of the report.  
 
Mr. Hansen was invited to speak again by Chair Hayward but stated that his previous testimony 
carried throughout the applications and that the desired outcome was to secure these properties as 
vacation rentals for future owners adding that future owners would be subject to the HOA. Mr. 
Hansen finished his comments and Chair Hayward asked if there was anyone present that would 
like to speak in favor or in opposition of Item D but received no response. Chair Hayward closed 
the public hearing and opened for discussion. Ms. O’Reilly stated that she felt bad for those 
opposed but gave reasons as to why the motion should be approved. A short discussion ensued 
about revenue from vacation rentals. Chair Hayward asked for a motion. 
 
Commissioner O’ Reilly made a motion to approve CUP-24-5 with conditions. Motion was 
seconded and passed unanimously.  
 
Swanson–aye; Hayward-aye; Sollaccio–aye; Hopper–aye; O’Reilly-aye 

 
E. CUP-24-6 Short-Term Rental at 968 Fourth Avenue, Hammond 

Chair Hayward opened the Public Hearing for Item E. Mr. Ellis stated that the conditional use 
permit was the same as before with the same criteria being met. Mr. Ellis stated that there was 
not much more to say that hadn’t already been covered with the previous items’ reports.  
 
Mr. Hansen was invited to speak again by Chair Hayward and stated that he would like to 
reaffirm the testimony made on the previous hearing. Chair Hayward asked if there was anyone 
present that would like to speak in favor or in opposition of Item E but received no response. 
Chair Hayward closed the public hearing and opened for discussion. No discussion was made by 
the Commission and Chair Hayward asked for a motion. 
 
Commissioner O’ Reilly made a motion to approve CUP-24-6 with conditions. Motion was 
seconded and passed unanimously.  
 
Swanson–aye; Hayward-aye; Sollaccio–aye; Hopper–aye; O’Reilly-aye 



 

MINUTES 
Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 5.9.24 
Page: 9 

 
6. BUSINESS ITEMS 

A. Fee Schedule Assessment 

Mr. Ellis brought before the Commission an assessment of the planning fees schedule, something 
he mentioned that was given to him by Jay Blake. Mr. Ellis mentioned that the assessment 
investigated the surrounding cities’ fees, and that Mr. Ellis had compiled what he had been given 
with his new research leading to the fees document that the Commission had before them. Mr. 
Ellis mentioned that the Commission did not need to hear this item, but it was more for 
awareness and an opportunity to weigh in on the fees. Mr. Ellis asked only for a recommendation 
on Exhibit A from the Commission. A question about the Poultry Permit was asked and Mr. Ellis 
replied that the packet had gone out prior to the new development of not moving forward with 
the permit requirement. There were some questions regarding the price of some of the fees and 
where they were yearly or for the life of the permit. Mr. Ellis was able to confirm the life of the 
permits. Some questions were asked about when the new fees would be heard by the City 
Commission and when they would go into effect. Mr. Ellis stated that the Commission had the 
power to recommend or not the new fees schedule and that the new fees schedule would take 
effect in the new fiscal year. The question of the permits for chickens was raised again but Mr. 
Ellis clarified that it should have been stricken from the record. The fees were discussed again 
briefly but no recommendation was made.  

7. DISCUSSION ITEMS – None 
 
8. GOOD OF THE ORDER 
  
Mr. Ellis spoke to the residential code audit advisory committee that positions were being 
appointed and if anyone was interested, they needed to speak with the mayor. It would be two 
additional meetings of about a couple of hours in length. There were no other items spoken of.  
 
There being no further business, Chair Hayward adjourned the meeting at 7:56 p.m. 
 

APPROVED: 
 

___________________________ 
ATTEST:      Chris Hayward, Chair 
 
_____________________________ 
Judith Stich, Secretary 



City of Warrenton 
Planning Department  
225 S Main Avenue     P.O. Box 250     Warrenton. OR 97146 
Phone: 503.861.0920 Fax: 503.861.2351  

 

STAFF REPORT 
TO:  The Warrenton Planning Commission 
FROM: Matthew Ellis, AICP, Planning Director 
DATE:  June 13, 2024 
SUBJ:  Appeal AP-24-1 
 
BACKGROUND 

Carl Gomoll is appealing Type II decision MC-24-1, which is attached to this staff report. 
Mr. Gomoll participated in the public comment period, giving him standing to appeal this 
decision. The issue presented in the appeal revolves around specific language in the 
private easement between Krueger Investment Group, LLC and NWSNO, LLC. 

At the top of Page 2 of 9 of the easement document, the document reads: No above-
ground structures, barriers, fences, buildings, or other improvements of any kind will be 
installed in the Easement Area or in such close proximity to the Easement Area, that 
such would interfere with the installation or maintenance thereof or Grantee’s rights 
herein.” Directions on how to interpret the phrase, “in such close proximity” is not laid 
out in the easement document. 

Staff have already considered the phrasing of the easement document in the original 
notice of decision, resulting in Condition of Approval 1, which requires the four parking 
spaces to be removed. The resubmitted plans meet the criteria laid out in the easement 
document and will be approved if the appeal is denied. 

PUBLIC PROCESS, PROCEDURES & PUBLIC NOTICE 

The application was submitted on April 15 and was deemed complete on April 22, 2024. 
We sent notice of the public hearing to adjacent property owners on May 23 and 
published notice in The Astorian on May 30, 2024. 

CODE PROVISIONS, APPLICANT RESPONSES, AND FINDINGS 

Applicable Warrenton Municipal Code (WMC) chapters for this application include:  

16.208.040 Type II Procedure (Administrative) 
 
Chapter 16.208 Administration of Land Use and Development Permits 
16.208.040 Type II Procedure (Administrative) 



Appeal AP-24-1 
Staff Report Page: 2 
 
APPLICANT RESPONSE: See Notice to Appeal. 
STAFF FINDING: The applicant has standing to appeal as provided by this section. The 
notice included the required information, and the filing fee was paid to the City. This 
criterion is met. 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION 

The applicant has met the criteria to apply for an appeal, but the language in question 
was appropriately interpreted and should not be overturned. Thus, staff recommends 
denial of this appeal. 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 

“Based on the findings and conclusions of the June 13, 2024, staff report, I move to 
deny Appeal AP-24-1.” 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Notice to Appeal 
2. Notice of Decision MC-24-1 
3. Recorded Private Easement 
4. Scope of Work with Easement Highlighted 



 

 

                              NorthWest Senior & Disability Services 
                                           

                                    3410 Cherry Avenue NE ∙ Salem, OR 97303  
                                                Mailing Address:  PO Box 12189  ∙  Salem, OR 97309-0189                                                  

                                                 Phone: 503.304.3400 ∙ Fax 503.304.3434 
                                                  www.NWSDS.org 

 

 

April 15, 2024 
 
Warrenton Planning Department 
P.O Box 250 
Warrenton, OR 97146 
 
Notice of Appeal to Decision for Minor Modification to Approved Plans and Conditions (MC-24-
1) 
 
This appeal is in reference to the Notice of Decision for Minor Modification to Approved Plans 
and Conditions (MC-24-1) dated April 10, 2024 and mailed to NWSDS on April 11, 2024.  The 
following provides the Planning Commission with a statement demonstrating we have standing 
to appeal, the specific issues raised to appeal, and they were raised during the comment period.  
 
 In review of the Staff Findings I recognize that 4 parking spots over our easement was 
disapproved.   
 
In addition to these findings, I would like to bring to the attention of the Planning Commission 
that the easement also allows for no improvements in close proximity to the Easement Area that 
would interfere with the repair or maintenance of the Easement Area.  
 
Given the Easement requirements, a 5-foot area around its proximity should be designated to 
not include any future improvements, as NWSDS is obligated to maintain and repair the 
Easement.  When maintenance or repairs are needed there would be a need of heavy machinery 
and the movement of dirt.  Should future improvements be placed too close to the Easement 
Area the digging could cause a collapse of dirt or damage to any improvements adjacent to the 
Easement Area.   For example, pavement could very well crack and break if it is too close. 
 
The retaining wall as identified in appendix A would still require a drainage system behind it 
along with a privacy fence along the NWSDS property line. Without proper drainage storm 
water will cause significant channeling along the retaining wall given the sandy soils. 
 
We would have no further concerns with the above modifications. 
 
  
//signed// 
CARL GOMOLL 
Operations Manager 
carl.gomoll@nwsds.org    
 

mailto:carl.gomoll@nwsds.org


 

Date:  April 15, 2024 
Subject:  Notice of Appeal to Decision for Minor Modification to Approved Plans and 
Conditions (MC-24-1) 
 

2 
 

Appendix A 
Site Plan 
 

 



City of Warrenton
Planning Department
225 S Main Avenue • P.O. Box 250 • Warrenton. OR 97146
Phone: 503.861.0920 Fax: 503.861.2351

STAFF REPORT
TO: Gary Darling, DL Consulting WA, Inc.

FROM: Matthew Ellis, AICP, Planning Director

DATE: April 10, 2024

SUBJ: Minor Modification to Approved Plans and Conditions MC-24-1 | Pacific Rim

Apartments 1484-1487 SE Snowberry Lane (81027DD00100) SDR-22-3

BACKGROUND:

The Planning Department completed and approved Site Design Review (SDR-22-3) for a new 24-

space overflow parking lot for the Pacific Rim Apartments on tax lot 81027DD00100 at 1484-

1487 SE Snowberry Lane. The application was approved on March 21, 2023. The applicant has

since proposed revisions to the approved plans that include changing the proposed stormwater

detention swale with below ground piped detention. The applicant also proposes to remove the

retaining wall, protective fence, and swale access.

PUBLIC PROCESS, PROCEDURES & PUBLIC NOTICE:

Applicable Warrenton Municipal Code (WMC) chapters for this modification include:

WMC 16.208.040 Type II Procedu re (Administrative).

WMC 16.212.040 Site Design Review.

WMC 16.228.040 Minor Modifications.

Public Notice letters were sent to affected property owners on March 31, 2023, and published

in The Astorian on April 4, 2023. One public comment was received by Carl Gomoll, Operations

Manager of Northwest Senior and Disability Services (attached).

CODE PROVISIONS, APPLICANT RESPONSES, AND FINDINGS:

16.212.040 Site Design Review.

B. Application Submission Requirements. All of the following information (subsections

(B)(l) through (7) of this section) is required for site design review application submittal:
1. Proposed Site Plan. The site plan shall contain the following information:



MC-24-1 | 1484-1487 SE Snowberry Lane (81027DD00100) Pacific Rim Apartments SDR-22-3
Staff Report Page: 2

c. The location and dimensions of all proposed public and private

streets, drives, rights-of-way, and easements.

p. The location, condition (paved, gravel unimproved, etc.) and width

of all public and private streets, drives, sidewalks, pathways, rights-of-

way, and easements on the site and adjoining the site.

STAFF FINDING: The proposed modification to the approved Site Design Review proposal, as

well as the previously approved proposal, failed to identify a private easement shared between

the property owner and NWSNO, LLC. As such, the original proposal, as well as the proposed

modification, does not conform to the application submission requirements for Site Design

Review. This criterion is not met.

16.228.040 Minor Modifications.

6. Minor Modification Request. An application for a minor modification is reviewed

using the Type II procedure in Chapter 16.260. A minor modification shall be approved,

approved with conditions, or denied by the Community Development Director based on

written findings on the following criteria:
1. The proposed development is in compliance with all applicable requirements

of the Development Code; and

STAFF FINDING: With the exception of four of the parking spaces, the proposal is still in
compliance with the remainder of the Development Code. This criterion is met.

2. The modification is not a major modification as defined in Section

16.228.030.

STAFF FINDING: The proposed modifications are not a change in the land use, an increase in

the number of dwelling units, a change in the access ways, drives, or parking, a change in the

floor area, a reduction in the open space, a change in the setbacks or a similar change to those

listed. Therefore, this is a minor modification. This criterion is met.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION

DECISION: (_) Approved Q^) Approved with Conditions (attached) (_) Denied

^ ^l<^ _ m\o\z^
Matthew Ellis, AICP, Planning Director Date

Conditions of Approval:
1. Within 180 days of the end of the appeal period, the applicant shall submit a site plan

which removes the parking and pavement overlapping the storm easement. Otherwise,

the application shall be considered expired.



MC-24-1 | 1484-1487 SE Snowberry Lane (81027DD00100) Pacific Rim Apartments SDR-22-3

Staff Report Page: 3

2. In accordance with OPSC 104.1, the developer shall apply for a plumbing permit within

180 days of the end of the appeal period. Otherwise, the application shall be considered

expired.

3. In accordance with OPSC 1101.4.1, all storm sewers shall conform to the applicable

standards of the OPSC.

4. In accordance with OPSC 721.2, an easement for the off-site storm sewer improvements

shall be recorded prior to the resubmittal of the site plan.

A copy of the staff report and decision can be obtained at City Hall, 225 S. Main Street or online:

https://www.warrentonoregon.us/ced

EFFECTIVE DATE: Unless appealed. Type II decisions are final and effective one day after the

appeal period expires. The appeal period is April 11, 2024 - April 24, 2024. This decision is final

and effective April 25, 2024. If an appeal is filed, the decision is effective on the day after the

appeal is decided. All persons entitled to notice or who are otherwise adversely affected or

aggrieved by the decision may appeal the decision.

RIGHT TO APPEAL:

A Type II administrative decision may be appealed to the Planning Commission by the applicant,

any person who was mailed a written notice of the Type II administrative decision, or any other

person who submitted written comments.

A notice of appeal shall be filed with the Community Development Director or designee within

14 days of the date the notice of decision was mailed. The notice of appeal shall contain:

(A) An identification of the decision being appealed, including the date of the decision.

(B) A statement demonstrating the person filing the notice of appeal has standing to

appeal.

(C) A statement explaining the specific issues raised on appeal.

(D) If the appellant is not the applicant, a statement demonstrating that the appeal

issues were raised during the comment period.

(E) Filing fee.

The appeal of a Type II administrative decision by a person with standing shall be limited to the

specific issues raised during the written comment period. Unless the appellant is the applicant,

the hearing on the appeal shall be limited to the specific issues identified in the written comments

submitted during the comment period.

For further information or questions on the appeal process, please contact Rebecca Sprengeler,

Planning Technician at 503-861-0920 or planninR@warrentonoreRon.us.























City of Warrenton 
Planning Department  
225 S Main Avenue     P.O. Box 250     Warrenton. OR 97146 
Phone: 503.861.0920 Fax: 503.861.2351  

 

STAFF REPORT 
TO:  The Warrenton Planning Commission 
FROM: Matthew Ellis, AICP, Planning Director 
DATE:  June 13, 2024 
SUBJ:  Appeal AP-24-2 
 
BACKGROUND 

Rick Van Sant is appealing Type II decision LP-24-1, which is attached to this staff 
report. Mr. Van Sant is the original applicant, giving him standing to appeal this 
decision. The issue presented in the appeal revolves around the interpretation of one 
provision of WMC 16.36.040. 

Staff originally interpreted the ordinance to require a minimum density of 20 units per 
acre for all product types allowed in the R-H High Density Residential zoning district. 
However, based on the location of the standard in the zoning district standards, it is 
unclear whether that provision is meant to apply to all product types or just single-family 
detached units. Staff intends to clarify this provision in a future update to the code. 

PUBLIC PROCESS, PROCEDURES & PUBLIC NOTICE 

The application was submitted on May 14 and was deemed complete on May 14, 2024. 
We sent notice of the public hearing to adjacent property owners on May 23 and 
published notice in The Astorian on May 30, 2024. 

CODE PROVISIONS, APPLICANT RESPONSES, AND FINDINGS 

Applicable Warrenton Municipal Code (WMC) chapters for this application include:  

16.208.040 Type II Procedure (Administrative) 
 
Chapter 16.208 Administration of Land Use and Development Permits 
16.208.040 Type II Procedure (Administrative) 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: See Notice to Appeal. 
STAFF FINDING: The applicant has standing to appeal as provided by this section. The 
notice included the required information, and the filing fee was waived by the City as 
this was an issue of miscommunication with the City Attorney. This criterion is met. 



Appeal AP-24-2 
Staff Report Page: 2 
 
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION 

Mr. Van Sant’s application would have been approved had staff understood the legal 
interpretation of the ordinance. Thus, staff is recommending approval provided the 
applicant follows all other provisions of the WMC and at least two dwelling units are 
developed on the lot. 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 

“Based on the findings and conclusions of the June 13, 2024, staff report, I move to 
approve Appeal AP-24-1 with a condition of approval requiring at least two dwelling 
units to be developed on the new lot.” 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Notice to Appeal 
2. Notice of Decision LP-24-1 
3. Preliminary Plat LP-24-1 



Appeal process LP-24-1 Van Sant

Rick Van Sant <rickvansant1@gmail.com>
Tue 5/14/2024 1:02 PM
To: Matthew Ellis <mellis@warrentonoregon.us> 

Dear Mr Ellis,

I appreciate the information that the city has provided me regarding my land partition.   I received a
letter with a decision on 05/01/24 that my partition  ( LP-24-1 Van Sant Partition) has been denied.

I am the land owner in the case of this partition and I would like to start the appeal process regarding
this decision.  The address on record is 577 Gray Street and it is currently under an LLC owned 100%
by myself.  I own Rainwater Properties which is my LLC.  I currently own 2 other duplexes within
walking distance of this property and near the marina.   

There are a few issues that I have with the ruling.  I was communicating with Rebecca of your office
and throughout a number of emails, this issue has never been raised.  She assured me that I could
build a 1200 SQ FT home if I was able to partition off a lot of at least 5000 SQ FT.   During this process
of hiring a local professional to do my survey, I had follow up conversations with Rebecca and Jeff (?)
the interim planning person and at no time was the density issue raised.  The density issue is not clear
and I have an issue with this current ruling.   For that matter, I wish to appeal  the ruling of May 1,2024,
which is under my rights as the property owner.

I understand that there may be a fee to appeal.  Please contact me if you need any further information
or payment to appeal.

I would like to know exactly what is possible once my partition is approved with the city.

Rick Van Sant
Rainwater Properties
503.314.4203



City of Warrenton
Planning Department
225 S Main Avenue • P.O. Box 250 • Warrenton, OR 97146
Phone: 503.861.0920 Fax: 503.861.2351

NOTICE OF DECISION AND ORDER
LP-24-1 Van Sant Land Partition

APPLICANT: Rainwater Properties, LLC

PROPERTY OWNER: Rainwater Properties, LLC

SUBJECT OF REVIEW: Land Partition application for 577 Gray Street

DATE: May 1,2024

APPEAL PERIOD ENDS: May 15, 2024

BACKGROUND:

The Planning Department received a land partition application on February 2S, 2024, and after

submitting supplemental materials, it was deemed complete on March 3, 2024. The application is

to divide a single-family residential lot into two single-family residential lots.

PUBLIC PROCESS, PROCEDURES & PUBLIC NOTICE:

Applicable Warrenton Municipal Code (WMC) chapters for this modification include:

• WMC 16.36.040 Development Standards

• WMC 16.208.040 Type 11 Procedure (Administrative)
• WMC 16.216.050 Approval Criteria - Preliminary Plat

Public notice letters were sent to property owners within 100 feet on April 9, 2024, and

published in The Astorian on April 20, 2024. One public comment was received by Daron Ray at

699 Pacific Drive.

CODE PROVISIONS, APPLICANT RESPONSES, AND FINDINGS:

16.36.040 Development Standards.

A. Density Provisions.

1. Minimum lot area for a single-family detached dwelling: 4,500 square

feet. Minimum density is 20 units per acre.

"Making a difference through excellence of service "



2. Minimum lot area duplex, to^nhome, rowhouse: 2,500 square feet per

unit.

3. Minimum lot area for a triplex: 7,500 square feet.

7. Minimum lot width at the front building line for single-family detached

dwelling or multifamily dwelling: 50 feet.
8. Minimum lot width at the front building line for duplex, townhome,

rowhouse: 25 feet per unit.

9. Minimum lot depth: 70 feet.

STAFF FINDING: Based on the minimum density required in the zoning district, the created

lot would be required to have three dwelling units. However, the created lot does not have

enough square footage for this to be allowed. Allowing the land partition to move forward would

create an unbuildable lot based on the current development standards. Minimum lot width and

depth are met on both lots. This criterion is not met.

16.208.040 Type II Procedure (Administrative).
B. Application Requirements.

1. Application Forms. Type II applications shall be made on forms provided

by the City ofWarrenton.

2. Submittal Information. The application shall:

a. Include the information requested on the application form.

b. Be filed with three copies of a narrative statement that explains

how the application satisfies each and all of the relevant criteria

and standards in sufficient detail for review and decision-making

c. Be accompanied by the required fee.

d. Include one set ofpre-stamped andpre-addressed envelopes for all

real property owners of record who will receive a notice of the

application as required in Section 16.208.040. The records of the

Clatsop County Department of Assessment and Taxation are the

official records for determining ownership. The applicant shall

demonstrate that the most current assessment records have been

used to produce the notice list. Alternatively, the applicant may

pay a fee for the City to prepare the public notice mailing.

e. Include an impact study for all land division applications. The

impact study shall quantify/assess the effect of the development on

public facilities and services. The study shall address, at a

minimum, the transportation system, including pedestrian ways

andbikeways, the drainage system, the parks system, the water

system, the sewer system, and the noise impacts of the

development. For each public facility system and type of impact,

the study shall propose improvements necessary to meet City

standards and to minimize the impact of the development on the

public at large, public facilities systems, and affected private

"Making a difference through excellence of service "



property users. In situations where this Code requires the

dedication of real property to the City, the applicant shall either

specifically agree to the dedication requirement, or provide

evidence that shows that the real property dedication requirement

is not roughly proportional to the projected impacts of the

development.

STAFF FINDING: The application was submitted with almost all the required materials. The
applicant failed to include any consideration of impacts on the surrounding area, including the

effect on public facilities. These impacts, however, will be addressed at the building permit

stage. This criterion is met.

16.216.050 Approval Criteria - Preliminary Plat.

A. General Approval Criteria. The City may approve, approve with conditions or

deny a preliminary plat based on the following approval criteria:

1. Partition and Subdivision.

a. The proposed preliminary plat complies with all of the applicable

Development Code sections and other applicable City ordinances

and regulations. At a minimum, the provisions of this chapter, and

the applicable sections of Division 2 (Land Use Districts) and
Division 3 (Design Standards) shall apply. Where a variance is

necessary to receive preliminary plat approval, the application

shall also comply with the relevant sections of Chapter 16.272,

Variances.

b. Housing Density. The subdivision meets the City's housing density

standards of the applicable zoning district (Division 2).

STAFF FINDING: The proposed subdivision does not comply with Section 16.36.040 of the
Warrenton Municipal Code as identified above. The proposed subdivision also does not meet the

City's housing density standards. This criterion is not met.

DECISION: (_) Approved (_) Approved with Conditions (attached) (_^\_) Denied

./^fclklfvl^ _ 5/uz^^
Matthew Ellis, AICP, Planning Director Date

Copies of all submittals, related documents, and this notice of decision are available for review

on the City ofWarrenton website or by contacting the City ofWarrenton:

httDs://www.warrentonore2on.us/ced/pase/applications-pendins-approval

"Making a difference through excellence of service "



EFFECTIVE DATE:

Unless appealed, Type II decisions are final and effective one day after the appeal period expires.

The appeal period is May 2, 2024 - May 15, 2024. This decision is final and effective May 16,

2024. If an appeal is filed, the decision is effective on the day after the appeal is decided. All

persons entitled to notice or who are otherwise adversely affected or aggrieved by the decision

may appeal the decision in accordance with Warrenton Municipal Code Section 16.208.040(0).

RIGHT TO APPEAL:

A Type II administrative decision may be appealed to the Planning Commission by the applicant,

any person who was mailed a written notice of the Type II administrative decision, or any other

person who submitted written comments.

A notice of appeal shall be filed with the Planning Director within fourteen (14) days of the date
the notice of decision was mailed. The notice of appeal shall contain:

(A) An identification of the decision being appealed, including the date of the
decision.

(B) A statement demonstrating the person filing the notice of appeal has standing to

appeal.

(C) A statement explaining the specific issues raised on appeal.

(D) If the appellant is not the applicant, a statement demonstrating that the appeal

issues were raised during the comment period.

(E) Filing fee.

The appeal of a Type II administrative decision by a person with standing shall be limited to the
specific issues raised during the written comment period. Unless the appellant is the applicant,

the hearing on the appeal shall be limited to the specific issues identified in the written comments
submitted during the comment period.

For further information or questions, please contact the Warrenton Planning Department at (503)

861-0920 or planning@warrentonoregon.us.

"Making a difference through excellence of service "









City of Warrenton 
Planning Department  
225 S Main Avenue     P.O. Box 250     Warrenton. OR 97146 
Phone: 503.861.0920 Fax: 503.861.2351  

 

STAFF REPORT 
TO:  The Warrenton Planning Commission 
FROM: Matthew Ellis, AICP, Planning Director 
DATE:  June 13, 2024 
SUBJ:  Conditional Use Permit CUP-24-7 
 
BACKGROUND 

Andrea Darus of the South Jetty Inn has applied for a Conditional Use Permit to come 
into compliance with the WMC. Currently, a food cart with a temporary use permit, Elk 
Stop Coffee, has been operating based on approval from a previous planning director. 
However, the use was placed there after the ordinance requiring them to be granted a 
conditional use permit was adopted. They failed to receive their conditional use permit 
until tonight. Staff has no concerns about how they have been operating but did want to 
bring them into compliance. 

PUBLIC PROCESS, PROCEDURES & PUBLIC NOTICE 

The application was submitted on May 9 and was deemed complete on May 9, 2024. 
We sent notice of the public hearing to adjacent property owners on May 23 and 
published notice in The Astorian on May 30, 2024. 

CODE PROVISIONS, APPLICANT RESPONSES, AND FINDINGS 

Applicable Warrenton Municipal Code (WMC) chapters for this application include:  

16.44.030 Commercial Mixed Use District Conditional Uses 
16.208.050 Type III Procedure (Quasi-Judicial) 
16.220 Conditional Use Permits 
 
Chapter 16.44 Commercial Mixed Use (C-MU) District 
16.44.030 Conditional Uses 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: None provided. 
STAFF FINDING: The proposed use would be allowed if CUP-24-7 is approved. This 
criterion is met. 

Chapter 16.208 Administration of Land Use and Development Permits 
16.208.050 Type III Procedure (Quasi-Judicial) 



Conditional Use Permit CUP-24-7 
Staff Report Page: 2 
 
APPLICANT RESPONSE: None provided. 
STAFF FINDING: The applicant did not hold a pre-application conference, which is 
required for all Type III applications, but staff do not feel a pre-application conference 
would have changed the application substantially. All other criteria of the section 
have been met. 

Chapter 16.220 Conditional Use Permits 
16.220.030 Review Criteria 

A. Before a conditional use is approved findings will be made that the use will 
comply with the following standards: 
1. The proposed use is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: Yes, the proposed kiosk is in full compliance and has no 
negative effect on the community. It has only enhanced the community overall. 
STAFF FINDING: The Comprehensive Plan speaks of a need for additional commercial 
options, as well as improvements to the Historic Hammond area. The food cart here will 
help activate Pacific Drive for pedestrian traffic as well as helping disperse traffic from 
other coffee shops. This criterion is met. 
 

2. The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the proposed 
use are such that the development will be compatible with, and have a 
minimal impact on, surrounding properties. 

 
APPLICANT RESPONSE: The kiosk is located in the Motel parking lot and has no 
negative impact on surrounding properties. 
STAFF FINDING: The operation of the food cart has not created any negative impacts 
on surrounding property owners and is not expected to do so. This criterion is met. 
 

3. The use will not generate excessive traffic, when compared to traffic 
generated by uses permitted outright, and adjacent streets have the 
capacity to accommodate the traffic generated. 

 
APPLICANT RESPONSE: We have provided a traffic study and there is no negative 
effects to adjacent roadways. 
STAFF FINDING: A food cart will not generate excessive traffic per the ITE trip 
generation model. This criterion is met. 

 
4. Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed 

use. 
 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: Yes, the kiosk is fully plumbed and electrified.  As part of the 
Motel, we have restrooms and wash facilities. 
STAFF FINDING: The food cart is already connected to the system. Additional 
inspection may be needed by Public Works to verify utilities are separated from each 
other. This criterion is met. 



Conditional Use Permit CUP-24-7 
Staff Report Page: 3 
 

 
5. The site's physical characteristics, in terms of topography, soils, and other 

pertinent considerations, are appropriate for the use. 
 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: Yes, the kiosk is located on new asphalt parking lot. 
STAFF FINDING: The food cart is set up on existing pavement. This criterion is met. 

 
6. The site has an adequate area to accommodate the proposed use. The 

site layout has been designed to provide for appropriate access points, 
on-site drives, public areas, loading areas, storage facilities, setbacks and 
buffers, utilities or other facilities which are required by City ordinances or 
desired by the applicant. 

 
APPLICANT RESPONSE: Yes, as mentioned in the Traffic study, there is plenty of 
adequate parking and room for through fares as well as seating for customers. 
STAFF FINDING: The food cart has been operating without issue and is expected to 
continue to do so. This criterion is met. 

 
7. The use is appropriate at the proposed location. Several factors which 

should be considered in determining whether or not the use is appropriate 
include: accessibility for users (such as customers and employees); 
availability of similar existing uses; availability of other appropriately zoned 
sites; and the desirability of other suitably zoned sites for the intended 
use. 

 
APPLICANT RESPONSE: Yes, again, there is suitable access for all customers and 
employees. 
STAFF FINDING: The food cart has been operating without issue and is expected to 
continue to do so. This criterion is met. 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION 

The applicant has demonstrated that the proposed food cart satisfies the conditional 
use permit criteria to be in the C-MU Commercial Mixed Use zoning district. 
Accordingly, staff recommends approval of the request. 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION 

“Based on the findings and conclusions of the June 13, 2024, staff report, I move to 
approve CUP-24-7.” 
 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Application 



CONDITIONAL USE 

7.2023 

City Of Warrenton 
Planning Department  
Conditional Use Permit 
WMC 16.220 

 
The purpose of the conditional use process is to allow, when desirable, uses that would not 
be appropriate throughout a zoning district or without restrictions in that district, but 
would be beneficial to the City if their number, area, location, design, and relation to the 
surrounding property are controlled. A property owner or designated representative may 

initiate a request for a conditional use by filing an application with the Planning 

Department according to the requirements of Section 16.208.050. In addition, the 

applicant shall provide any related plans, drawings, and/or information needed to provide 
background for the request. 
 

Property  
 
Address: ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Tax Lot (s): ___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Zone: ____________________ Flood Zone: _________________ Wetlands: _________________________________ 

Applicant 
 
Name (s): _____________________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Phone: ______________________________ E-Mail Address: _______________________________________________ 
 
Mailing Address: _____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Applicant Signature(s): _____________________________________________________ Date: _________________ 

 
Property Owner (if different from applicant) 

 
Name (s): _____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Phone: ___________________________ E-mail Address:  _________________________________________________ 
 
Mailing Address: _____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Owner’s Signature: _________________________________________________________ Date: __________________ 
 
I am a record owner of property (person(s) whose name is on the most recently-recorded deed), or contract 
purchaser with written permission from the record owner and am providing my signature as written 
authorization for the applicant to submit this application. 

O
FF

IC
E 

U
SE

 

 

FEE   $1,000 
 
File# CUP -________ - _________ 
 
Date Received ______________ 
          
Receipt#_____________________ 



CONDITIONAL USE 

7.2023 

Description of Proposed Land Use 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Conditional Use Permit Review Criteria 

 
Please provide written responses to each of the criteria below that clearly explain how 
your proposal meets each item. Attach a separate piece of paper if needed. Be as specific as 
possible. “Yes” and “No” responses are not sufficient. 
 
WMC 16.220.030 
 
1. The proposed use is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan. 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
2. The location, size and design, and operating characteristics of the proposed use are such 
that the development will be compatible with, and have a minimal impact on surrounding 
properties. 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
3. The use will not generate excessive traffic, when compared to traffic generated by uses 
permitted outright, and adjacent streets have the capacity to accommodate the traffic 
generated. 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
4. Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use. 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
5. The site’s physical characteristics, in term of topography, soils and other pertinent 
considerations are, are appropriate for the use. 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 



CONDITIONAL USE 

7.2023 

6. The site has an adequate area to accommodate the proposed use.  The site layout has 
been designed to provide for the building, parking, landscaping, driveway, on-site 
circulation, public areas, loading areas, storage facilities, setbacks, buffers, and utilities 
which are required by City ordinances. 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
7. The use is appropriate at the proposed location. Several factors which should be 
considered in determining whether or not the use is appropriate include: accessibility for 
users (such as customers and employees); availability of similar existing uses; availability 
of other appropriately zoned sites; and the desirability of other suitably zoned sites for the 
intended use. 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Submittal Checklist 
 
Applicants shall submit all of the following items on a site plan along with the application 
form. The site plan shall contain the following information: 
 

☐ The proposed development site, including boundaries, dimensions, and gross area 

drawn to scale. 

☐ Natural land features identified which are proposed to be removed or modified by the 

development, including modifications to existing drainage patterns, if any. 

☐ The location and dimensions of all proposed public and private streets, drives, rights-of-

way, and easements, if any 

☐ The location and dimensions of all existing and proposed structures, utilities, pavement 

and other improvements on the site. Setback dimensions for all existing and proposed 
buildings shall be provided on the site plan. 

☐ The location and dimensions of entrances and exits to the site for vehicular, pedestrian, 

and bicycle access, if being modified by the application. 

☐ The location and dimensions of all parking and vehicle circulation areas (show striping 

for parking stalls and wheel stops, as applicable), and proposed paving materials. 

☐ Pedestrian and bicycle circulation areas, including sidewalks, internal pathways, 

pathway connections to adjacent properties, and any bicycle lanes or trails. 

☐ Loading and service areas for waste disposal, loading and delivery, if any 

☐ Outdoor recreation spaces, common areas, plazas, outdoor seating, street furniture, and 

similar improvements. 



CONDITIONAL USE 

7.2023 

☐ Location, type, and height of outdoor lighting. 

☐ Locations, sizes, and types of signs (shall comply with Chapter 16.144). 

☐ The Planning Department may require studies or exhibits prepared by qualified 

professionals to address specific site features (e.g., traffic, noise, environmental features, 
site drainage, natural hazards, etc.). 

☐ The applicant’s entire tax lot and the surrounding property to a distance sufficient to 

determine the location of the development in the City, and the relationship between the 
proposed development site and adjacent property and development. The property 
boundaries, dimensions and gross area shall be identified. 

☐ Identification of slopes greater than 10%. 

☐ Any areas identified as located in a designated floodplain and/or floodway, if any 

☐ Depict any wetland and riparian areas, streams and/or wildlife habitat areas, if any. 

☐ Site features such as pavement, areas having unique views, and drainage ways, canals 

and ditches, if any. 

☐ Any designated historic and cultural resources areas on the site and/or adjacent parcels 

or lots. 

☐ North arrow, scale, names and addresses of all property owners. 

☐ Name and address of applicant, project designer, engineer, architect, surveyor, and/or 

planner, if applicable. 

☐ Letter or narrative report documenting compliance with the applicable approval criteria 

including the conditional use criteria, zoning development standards, and applicable design 
standards. Please see the Planning Staff for applicable design standards.  
 

This application will not be officially accepted until department staff have 
determined that the application is completely filled out, signed, the application fee 

has been paid, and the submittal requirements have been met. 
 

 



City of Warrenton 
Planning Department  
225 S Main Avenue     P.O. Box 250     Warrenton. OR 97146 
Phone: 503.861.0920 Fax: 503.861.2351  

 

STAFF REPORT 
TO:  The Warrenton Planning Commission 
FROM: Matthew Ellis, AICP, Planning Director 
DATE:  June 13, 2024 
SUBJ:  Development Code Revision DCR-24-4 Commercial Industrial District 
 
BACKGROUND 

On May 28, 2024, the Warrenton City Commission tasked the Planning Commission 
and City staff to develop a CI Commercial Industrial zoning district, blending the vision 
of the two distinct uses into one hybrid zone. This discussion will lay the groundwork for 
the eventual ordinance and City-initiated rezoning of the property. Further in the memo, 
I identify specific items of consideration I need direction on. 

PURPOSE 

City staff proposes the purpose of this zone to be blending the appropriate components 
of the C-1 and I-1 zoning districts into a single zoning district which would result in 
larger-scale commercial developments that would not appear discordant with light 
industrial and wholesale uses interspersed. Uses in this zone should be focused on 
growth in employment while disallowing some of the residential or institutional uses 
allowed in C-1. 

PERMITTED USES 

Permitted uses are those allowed by right, distinct from conditional uses. The C-1 
General Commercial zone permits many uses which would make sense in larger 
development or smaller development. Most of the permitted uses in I-1 would require 
larger contiguous areas of land. Direction on which permitted uses are appropriate and 
which should be moved to conditional uses will be asked at the meeting. The proposed 
list of permitted uses for CI is below: 

A. Airport support structures, including but not limited to hangars, weather 
stations, fuel terminals, and storage buildings. 

B. Boat and marine equipment sales, service, or repair facilities. 
C. Building material sales yard. 
D. Cabinet, carpenter, woodworking, or metal fabrication shops. 
E. Church, synagogue, or other place of worship. 



Development Code Revision DCR-24-4 
Staff Report Page: 2 
 

F. Contractor shop or equipment storage yard for storage and rental of 
equipment commonly used by a contractor. 

G. Dredge material disposal (DMD) subject to Chapter 16.104. 
H. Government buildings and uses. 
I. Printing facilities. 
J. Production, processing, assembling, packaging or treatment of articles 

and products from previously prepared or semi-finished materials, such as 
paper, wood, rubber, plastics, fibers, and sheet metal. 

K. Production, processing, assembling, packaging, or treatment of such 
products as food and beverage products, pharmaceutical, hardware, and 
machine products. Retail of products made on-site is permitted as an 
accessory use. 

L. Processing uses such as bottling plants, bakeries, and commercial 
laundries. 

M. Professional, financial, business, and medical offices. 
N. Public utility facilities. 
O. Research and development laboratories and similar uses. 
P. Retail business establishments over 25,000 square feet. 
Q. Storage and distribution services and facilities, including but not limited to 

truck terminals, warehouses and storage buildings and yards, contractor's 
establishments, or lumber yards and sales. 

R. Technical, professional, vocational, and business schools. 
S. Tool and equipment rental. 
T. Transportation facilities and improvements subject to the standards of 

Section 16.20.040. 
U. Vehicle repair, including but not limited to welding, painting, service, and 

parts facilities. 
V. Veterinary clinic, kennels. 
W. Similar uses as those listed in this section. 

CONDITIONAL USES 

Conditional uses require additional review by the Warrenton Planning Commission 
through the application for a Conditional Use Permit. The proposed list of conditional 
uses for CI is below: 

A. New community or technical college or similar campus-type facilities 
subject to institutional master plan standards in Chapter 16.224. 

B. New mini-warehouse or similar storage facilities. 
C. Similar uses as those listed in this section. 

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

The following development standards were developed based on the expected patterns 
of development and best practices from other communities: 

A. Minimum lot size: none. 



Development Code Revision DCR-24-4 
Staff Report Page: 3 
 

B. Minimum lot width: none. 
C. Minimum lot depth: none. 
D. Maximum building height: 45 feet. 
E. Maximum lot coverage: none. 
F. Minimum front yard setback: none. 
G. Minimum side yard setback: none. 
H. Minimum rear yard setback: none. 

OTHER APPLICABLE STANDARDS 

The following standards were developed using the impact-based standards in I-1 and 
adapted based on the allowed uses: 

A. The air quality standards set by the Department of Environmental Quality 
shall be the guiding standards in this zone, except that open burning is 
prohibited in any case. 

B. All materials, including wastes, shall be stored and maintained in a 
manner that will not attract or aid the propagation of insects or rodents or 
other animals or birds, or otherwise create a health hazard or nuisance. 

C. Fencing will be allowed inside a boundary planting screen and where it is 
necessary to protect the property of the use concerned or to protect the 
public from a dangerous condition. Proposed fence locations and design 
shall be subject to City review. 

D. Where this zone adjoins a residential zone, there shall be a buffer area at 
least 10 feet wide to provide a dense evergreen landscape buffer that 
attains a mature height of eight feet, or such other screening measures as 
may be prescribed by the City in the event differences in elevation or other 
circumstances should defeat the purpose of this requirement. 

E. No vibration other than that caused by highway vehicles, trains, and 
aircraft shall be permitted which is discernible without instruments at the 
property line of the use concerned. 

F. No use shall create electrical or lighting interference with the operations of 
the Port of Astoria Airport. 

G. Prior to undertaking disposal, the dredging project proponent shall consult 
with the Army Corps and Oregon Department of State Lands to determine 
if the disposal site contains wetlands that are regulated under permit 
programs administered by those agencies. If the site contains regulated 
wetlands, the dredging project proponent shall either alter the disposal site 
boundaries to avoid the wetlands and leave an acceptable protective 
buffer, or obtain the necessary Corps and DSL permits to fill the wetlands. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. WMC 16.40 GENERAL COMMERCIAL (C-1) DISTRICT 
2. WMC 16.60 GENERAL INDUSTRIAL (I-1) DISTRICT 



City of Warrenton 
Planning Department  
225 S Main Avenue     P.O. Box 250     Warrenton. OR 97146 
Phone: 503.861.0920 Fax: 503.861.2351  

 

STAFF REPORT 
TO:  The Warrenton Planning Commission 
FROM: Matthew Ellis, AICP, Planning Director 
DATE:  June 13, 2024 
SUBJ:  Applications Approved by Staff – April 1, 2024 through May 31, 2024 
 
APPLICATIONS APPROVED BY STAFF 

The following applications were approved by Planning Department staff between April 1, 
2024 and May 31, 2024: 

File Name Description Project Location Decision 

LUCS-24-1 Land Use Compatibility 
Statement for soil 
stabilization 

Taxlot 810170001302 Approved on 
April 15, 2024 

ZL-24-1 Zoning Verification Letter for 
personal grow operation 

330 SW Jade Place Approved on 
April 29, 2024 

FP-24-9 Floodplain Development 
Permit for a door 
replacement  

280 SE Marlin Avenue Approved on 
May 14, 2024 

FP-24-10 Floodplain Development 
Permit for a new Ecolab 
dispenser 

1605 E Harbor Drive Approved on 
May 14, 2024 

GRD-24-1 Grading Permit for Lot 9 of 
the Roosevelt Subdivision 

1110 SE Bugle Avenue Approved on 
May 16, 2024 

TU-24-1 Temporary Use Permit for a 
contractor trailer and 
laydown yard for upcoming 
improvements to Fred Meyer 

695 S Highway 101 Approved on 
May 21, 2024 

HOC-24-1 Home Occupation Permit for 
an existing quilting business 

683 NW 9th Street Approved on 
May 21, 2024 



Applications Approved by Staff – April 1, 2024 through May 31, 2024 
Staff Report Page: 2 
 
TU-24-3 Temporary Use Permit for 

fireworks sales at Fred 
Meyer and Walmart 

695 S Highway 101 
1791 SE Ensign Lane 

Approved on 
May 21, 2024 

LL-24-2 Lot consolidation for single-
family attached dwellings 

Taxlot 81009D004400 Approved on 
May 23, 2024 

FP-24-11 Floodplain Development 
Permit for a heater 
replacement  

230 SE Marlin Avenue Approved on 
May 31, 2024 

 

PRE-APPLICATION CONFERENCES HELD 

The following pre-application conferences were held with City staff between April 1, 
2024 and May 31, 2024: 

File Name Description Project Location 

PRE-24-1 Converting existing garages into 
bedrooms, formalizing a fourplex 

1145 S Main Avenue 

PRE-24-2 New single-family home Taxlot 810160000616 

PRE-24-3 New nine-unit multifamily complex 719 S Main Avenue 

PRE-24-4 Townhouse development in Chelsea 
Gardens 

640 Alternate Highway 101 

PRE-24-5 Vacation rental 976 Fourth Avenue 

 


	1 PC Agenda 06.13.24
	3A Planning Commission Minutes 2024.05.09
	5A AP-24-1
	Notice to Appeal Decision MC-24-1
	Notice of Decision MC-24-1 4.10.24 signed
	Kruger & NWSNO Easement-RECORDED
	tp8_10_27DD - PP Easement Area 3.7.24

	5B AP-24-2
	Staff Report AP-24-2
	Packet AP-24-2
	Notice of Appeal
	Notice of Decision Signed
	Preliminary Plat Van Sant


	5C CUP-24-7
	Application

	7A DCR-24-4

	E-mail Address: Thesouthjettyinn@gmail.com
	File CUP: 
	undefined: 
	Date Received: 
	Receipt: 
	Mailing Address: 984 Pacific Dr, Hammond, OR 97121
	Date: 
	Name s: 
	Phone: 
	Email Address: 
	Mailing Address_2: 
	Date_2: 
	Property Address: 984 Pacific Drive, PO Box 238, Hammond, OR 97121
	Tax Lot Number(s): 
	Zone: 
	Flood Zone: 
	Wetlands: 
	Applicant Name(s): Andrea Darus
	Applicant Phone: 503-861-8868
	Description of Proposed Land Use 1: 
	Description of Proposed Land Use 2: To provide an Amenity to the Motel and the community.
	Description of Proposed Land Use 3: 
	Description of Proposed Land Use 4: 
	Description of Proposed Land Use 5: 
	1 The proposed use is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan 1: Yes, the proposed kisok is in full compliance and has no negative effect on the community.  In fact, it has only enhanced teh community overall.
	1 The proposed use is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan 2: 
	1 The proposed use is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan 3: 
	properties 1: The kiosk is located in the Motel parking lot and has no negative impact on surrounding properties.
	properties 2: 
	properties 3: 
	generated 1: We have provided a traffic study and there is no negative effects to adjacent roadways.
	generated 2: 
	generated 3: 
	4 Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use 1: Yes, the kiosk in fully plumbed and electrified.  As part of the Motel, we have restrooms and wash facilities.
	4 Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use 2: 
	4 Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use 3: 
	considerations are are appropriate for the use 1: Yes, Kiosk is located on new asphalt parking lot.
	considerations are are appropriate for the use 2: 
	considerations are are appropriate for the use 3: 
	which are required by City ordinances 1: Yes, as mentioned in the Traffic study, there is plenty of adequate parking and rom for through fare as well as seating for customers.
	which are required by City ordinances 2: 
	which are required by City ordinances 3: 
	intended use 1: Yes, again, there is suuitable access for all customers and employees.
	intended use 2: 
	intended use 3: 
	Check Box8: Yes
	Check Box9: Yes
	Check Box10: Yes
	Check Box11: Yes
	Check Box12: Yes
	Check Box13: Yes
	Check Box14: Yes
	Check Box15: Yes
	Check Box16: Yes
	Check Box17: Off
	Check Box18: Off
	Check Box19: Off
	Check Box20: Off
	Check Box21: Off
	Check Box22: Off
	Check Box23: Off
	Check Box24: Off
	Check Box25: Off
	Check Box26: Off
	Check Box27: Off
	Check Box28: Off


